

# Jacksonville State University **JSU Digital Commons**

**Doctor of Nursing Practice Projects** 

Theses, Dissertations & Graduate Projects

Summer 2024

# Reducing No-Show Rates in an Outpatient GI Endoscopy Lab

Mwaba Chisela mchisela@stu.jsu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.jsu.edu/etds\_nursing



Part of the Nursing Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Chisela, Mwaba, "Reducing No-Show Rates in an Outpatient GI Endoscopy Lab" (2024). Doctor of Nursing Practice Projects. 131.

https://digitalcommons.jsu.edu/etds\_nursing/131

This DNP Executive Summary is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations & Graduate Projects at JSU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctor of Nursing Practice Projects by an authorized administrator of JSU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@jsu.edu.

# Reducing No-Show Rates in an Outpatient GI Endoscopy Lab

A DNP Project Submitted to the

**Graduate Faculty** 

of Jacksonville State University

in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

**Doctor of Nursing Practice** 

By

Mwaba Chisela

Jacksonville, Alabama

August 2, 2024

copyright 2024

All Rights Reserved

\_\_\_\_\_

Mwaba Chisela

August 2, 2024

#### Abstract

**Background:** Patients who do not attend their scheduled appointments cost the healthcare industry approximately \$150 billion annually. They are at higher risk of missed diagnoses, delay in care, and increased morbidity and mortality.

**Purpose:** This quality improvement project aimed to determine the effectiveness of serial reminders using phone calls and electronic messaging to reduce no-shows for patients scheduled for gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopy.

*Methods:* No-show data was retroactively analyzed from June 2023 to December 2023 and compared to post-implementation data from February 2024 to March 2024. For eight weeks, a trained staff team called patients scheduled for endoscopic procedures seven days before the procedure. Reminders were sent via electronic messaging three days before scheduled procedures. One day prior to the procedure, the pre-admission testing team made live calls. *Results:* During the eight-week intervention period, the no-show rate was reduced from 2.78% to 0.41%. A two-tailed z-score was used to calculate the statistical significance for the two population proportions. The value of z was calculated at 3.1785, and the *p value*=0.00148, revealing significance at p < 0.05.

*Conclusion:* The project results were statistically significant, further supporting the efficacy of the intervention. The data emphasizes the importance of implementing a targeted strategy, such as serial reminders, to mitigate appointment no-shows and cancellations, ultimately enhancing healthcare service delivery and patient outcomes.

**Keywords**: no-shows, cancellations, non-attendance, serial reminders.

## Acknowledgments

This project was guided by Dr. Douglas Stephens, the DNP project chair, and Dr. Joshua Foromera, the DNP project preceptor. Words cannot express my gratitude to my professors and committee chair for their invaluable patience and feedback. I am deeply indebted to Dr. Lori McGrath, who made this journey possible. I also could not have undertaken this journey without my chair,

I am also deeply appreciative of the unwavering support from our facility's Executive Director-Nurse leader Alicia Sanborn. Her efforts, which went above and beyond, were crucial in ensuring the successful completion of my project. I also want to thank the clinical staff for their constant moral support. To my preceptor, Dr. Joshua Foromera, your profound knowledge has inspired me; I thank you for your patience and guidance through this project.

Lastly, I would be remiss in not mentioning my family, especially my husband, son, and parents. I thank my wonderful husband, Hai Vo, who, through my late nights and early mornings, allowed me to concentrate solely on this project. My son, Elijah, whom I hope to continue to inspire, to reach for the stars. My parents, Dr. Wyndioto and Gloria Chisela, whose American dream has come full circle. Their belief in me has kept my spirits and motivation high during this process.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	3
Reducing No-Show Rates in an Outpatient GI Endoscopy Lab	6
Background	6
Problem Identification	7
Problem Statement and PICOT Question	7
Review of Literature	7
Impact of No-Shows on Health Outcomes	8
The Impact of No-Shows on Healthcare Facilities	9
The Effectiveness and Use of Reminder Systems	9
Theoretical Framework	11
Quality Improvement Methodology	12
Project Design	12
Project Results and Evaluation	14
Conclusion	15
References	17
Appendices	
Appendix A: JSU IRB Approval Letter	24
Appendix B: CITI Training	25

## Reducing No-Show Rates in an Outpatient GI Endoscopy Lab

No-shows have been noted to impact all medical practices. However, they also significantly impact gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopy facilities, mainly due to the extended time needed for procedure preparations and the inability to reschedule other patients (Marbouh et al., 2020; Tauscher, 2020). When patients miss their appointments without notice or reason, it leads to longer wait times, fragmented care, less efficient healthcare systems, and lower satisfaction for both patients and clinical staff (Amberger & Schreyer, 2024; Shuja et al., 2019; Valero-Bover et al., 2022). Compliance with scheduled appointments is the key to successful health management for the GI patient population.

## **Background**

Endoscopy cancellation and non-attendance rates in the United States average around 21% (Hadaib et al., 2022). Endoscopy labs incur high consumption costs due to staffing and the use of expensive resources. GI procedures are estimated to have a net loss average of \$725 per day for the average facility (Shuja et al., 2019). The cost of no-shows to the healthcare industry is roughly \$150 billion a year (Tauscher, 2020). The annual gross revenue loss due to no-shows ranges from \$84,000 to \$384,000 (Lagman et al., 2020). The Consumer Shoppable Services for Health Maintenance Organization HMO pricing of five standard health plans reveals an average cost of diagnostic upper endoscopy for the facility hospital organization to be \$3036. While diagnostic examination of the large bowel via colonoscopy averaged \$3861. These averages do not account for biopsy or removal of polyps or growths (Wellstar Health Systems, 2023). The estimated revenue loss from colonoscopy and endoscopy no-shows at the project facility is approximately \$1000 per procedure. No-shows increase the financial burden on facilities and impose rising costs on patients. This cost escalation diminishes patient outcomes, as individuals

who miss appointments face a higher risk of missed diagnoses, delays in care, and increased morbidity and mortality (Smith et al., 2022).

#### **Problem Identification**

The 2019 GI Operations Benchmarking Survey by the Association of Gastroenterology Endoscopy (ASGE) indicated a mean endoscopy no-show rate of 6.52%, with rates ranging from 0.63% to 21.02% (Tauscher, 2020). The no-show rate in the GI endoscopy lab was 2.78%. The endoscopy lab scheduled 1,117 endoscopic procedures over eight months preceding the intervention, with 31 patients identified as no-shows. ASGE's recommended strategies for reducing no-shows include implementing written policies with clear financial agreements, utilizing automated reminders via various channels, and employing multiple reminders leading up to the procedure (Tauscher, 2020).

## **Problem Statement and PICOT Question**

No-shows disrupt the workflow of healthcare facilities and result in wasted resources and potential delays in patient care. A persistent challenge healthcare providers face is the high rate of patient no-shows for scheduled endoscopic procedures. Despite existing appointment reminder systems, the rate of no-shows remains significant, indicating the need for more effective strategies to reduce no-shows. In the GI endoscopy lab, the no-show rate can surpass the mean endoscopy rate identified by the ASGE. In patients scheduled for GI endoscopy, does the use of serial appointment reminders compared to a single appointment reminder decrease the no-show rate within eight weeks?

#### **Review of Literature**

This literature review incorporated a thorough search strategy that leverages various search engines and databases, including PubMed, ScienceDirect, CINAHL, EBSCOhost,

ProQuest Central, and PsycINFO. Keywords used in the search process encompassed a range of terms, including no-shows, cancellations, non-attendance, endoscopy, GI endoscopy, and appointment keeping. Delimiters were applied, such as limiting the search to publications within the past five years, English language, full-text availability, and peer-reviewed journals.

Following strict exclusion and inclusion criteria, 30 articles were selected, ranging from Level I to IV evidence. Specific articles were identified based on relevance to the process improvement with time frames from 2019 to the present. However, only seminal articles were included in the review if no other articles were identified. The articles contained prospective single-blinded randomized controlled trials, prospective randomized, parallel-design clinical trials, and systematic reviews. The themes identified throughout this literature review were the impact of no-shows on health outcomes and healthcare facilities and the use of serial reminders via telephone, electronic messaging, or text messaging.

## **Impact of No-Shows on Health Outcomes**

No-shows and cancellations have been associated with increased morbidity and mortality. McQueenie et al. (2019) noted that patients with multiple chronic co-morbidities who missed two or more appointments a year have a three-fold increase in mortality compared to patients who do not miss appointments. Consistent attendance at scheduled appointments plays a critical role in the effective management of gastrointestinal patients. Attending appointments facilitates timely diagnosis and appropriate treatment and ultimately improves health outcomes. Patients can significantly enhance their overall health and well-being by prioritizing a steadfast commitment to attending all scheduled appointments (Yılmaz & Kocyigit, 2022).

Patients with multiple chronic conditions who miss appointments face a heightened risk of mortality. This emphasizes the urgency of addressing no-shows within the clinic under study,

given the pivotal role of consistent attendance in effectively managing gastrointestinal patients. By emphasizing the importance of attending appointments on time for timely diagnosis and treatment, the aim was to enhance health outcomes and overall patient well-being, aligning with the findings of Yılmaz and Kocyigit (2022).

## The Impact of No-Shows on Healthcare Facilities

Patient no-shows significantly strain healthcare systems in GI endoscopy units, where resources are often limited and equipment is expensive. No-shows jeopardize patient health outcomes and have a ripple effect by increasing emergency department admissions and hospitalizations (Berg et al., 2013; Yılmaz & Kocyigit, 2022). A cross-sectional study revealed that no-shows and cancellations cause 16%-54% of operating losses for medical insurance in various healthcare settings (Marbouh et al., 2020). Analysis of the endoscopy labs revealed a total net loss of \$46,500. No-shows lead to discontinuation of care, decreased provider productivity, and increased wait times for other patients needing care or procedures, reducing patient satisfaction (Marbouh et al., 2020; Dantas et al., 2018).

## The Effectiveness and Use of Text Message Appointment Reminders

Several studies have highlighted the effectiveness of text message appointment reminders (TMAR) compared to other reminder methods in various medical settings. Gallegos et al. (2023) conducted a study and found that TMAR was more cost-effective and user-friendly than other reminder methods. Nevertheless, Balakrishnan et al. (2019)noted a positive impact of text messaging on clinical attendance for appointments, particularly for surveillance screenings such as colorectal, breast, and cervical cancer. Low et al. (2021) found that patients were significantly more likely to miss their appointments without a text message reminder. Moreover, compared to

no reminders at all, text message appointment reminders have been shown to significantly encourage users to attend appointments or cancel them in advance (Low et al., 2021).

Patients who received electronic messaging in conjunction with a day seven call were more likely to attend their scheduled procedures. Lam et al. (2020) demonstrated that text message reminders sent 7 to 10 days before outpatient colonoscopy procedures reduced nonattendance rates. These findings collectively highlight the potential of text messaging as a valuable tool in improving appointment attendance and healthcare outcomes. However, further research, particularly randomized controlled trials directly comparing text messaging with other reminder methods, is warranted to better understand its comparative efficacy in medical settings (Iribarren et al., 2021).

#### The Effectiveness and Use of Phone Call Reminders

Staff phone calls, mainly serial reminders, have proven to be reliable for reducing noshow rates (Crable et al., 2020; Opon et al., 2020). Reminder calls made seven days before
scheduled clinic appointments led to a 22% reduction in no-show rates compared to their control
group participants (Shah et al., 2016). Telephone calls are also inexpensive but labor-intensive.

Telephone calls are effective in reducing no-shows when they are classified as reminder plus.

Reminders-plus telephone calls entail providing appointment reminders and additional
information, including orientation, patients' medical history, and a review of systems (Gashu et
al., 2021). Implementing reminder-plus calls, compared to simple reminders, lowers no-shows
and cancellation rates (Soos et al., 2020). Patients who confirmed attendance during their day
seven call were more likely to show up for their scheduled procedure. Cancellation or
rescheduling was more likely to occur during this phone call (Woodside, 2023). While telephone
calls are effective and inexpensive, they are more labor intensive as they demand more staff

time. Despite this, live call reminders are more effective than automated appointment reminders in reducing no-shows and cancellations (Woodside, 2023).

#### Theoretical Framework

The Health Belief Model (HBM) is a valuable framework for evaluating health promotion programs and identifying factors associated with poor appointment adherence (Alhazmi et al., 2022). This model examines patients' beliefs about their health conditions, providing insight into their health behaviors. According to the HBM, individuals are motivated to take health-related actions if they perceive themselves at risk of illness and believe that preventive measures are effective (Ooi et al., 2024).

In the context of GI health, patients may be motivated to undergo screening procedures such as colonoscopy or endoscopy if they perceive themselves to be at risk for cancer. However, factors such as the perceived threat of a cancer diagnosis or complications from the procedure can decrease patients' motivation, leading to cancellations or no-shows (Ooi et al., 2024).

Barriers to undergoing endoscopic evaluations, such as financial concerns or psychological factors like anxiety, can deter patients from attending scheduled procedures (Alhazmi et al., 2022; Yılmaz & Kocyigit, 2022). These perceived barriers can undermine patients' intentions to participate in essential screenings. Cues to action are necessary to address these challenges and motivate patients to attend appointments. Serial reminders, particularly those that provide additional information about the risks and benefits of procedures, serve as cues to action (Zampetakis & Melas, 2021). By delivering reminders that emphasize the importance of the appointment and provide relevant information, healthcare providers can effectively prompt patients to act and attend their scheduled procedures (Zampetakis & Melas, 2021).

A descriptive cross-sectional study highlighted the significance of modified components of the Health Belief Model and the absence of cues to action, such as reminders, in explaining poor appointment adherence (Zampetakis & Melas, 2021). Therefore, identifying and understanding the critical reasons for non-compliance validates serial reminders with reminder-plus information as a call to action to improve appointment adherence. Leveraging HBM and implementing serial reminders with informative content can help increase appointment adherence among GI patients. By addressing patients' beliefs, perceptions, and barriers to care, healthcare providers can enhance patient engagement and promote better health outcomes.

## **Quality Improvement Methodology**

This quality improvement project was implemented using the Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA) cycle to improve the clinical process for patient reminders and scheduling, focusing on reducing no-show rates. The PDSA cycle, known for its four-stage approach, guides the initiative through planning, implementation, evaluation, and adjustment (Taylor et al., 2013). Ensuring consistency in the implementation was done by affirming that reminders were sent out as planned and that all staff were adequately trained on the project process. Analysis of incoming data was performed to evaluate the project's progress. Data analysis allowed the project leader to determine the success of the implementation in achieving its objectives. Based on the data analysis, adjustments were made as necessary. The collected data was disseminated and assessed to ensure successful project development. The use of continuous PDSA cycles ensured project success and sustainability.

#### **Project Design**

Before project implementation, the DNP student received Institutional Review Board approval (see Appendix A) and completed protection of human subject training, (see Appendix

B). The project design followed a QI change model approach in analyzing performance and adjusting for improvement. The intervention lasted eight weeks, Retrospective data collection was conducted to identify the current no-show rate in the endoscopy lab. Inclusion criteria for patient selections were as follows: patients were over 18 years old and scheduled for either colonoscopy or upper endoscopy; patients did not attend the procedure or had been given notification before the procedure. Exclusion criteria included notification of cancellation within 24 hours of the procedure, abortive cancellation day of the procedure reasons (i.e., ate prior to the procedure, deemed high risk per anesthesia, etc.). The medical assistant and registered nurse identified the population scheduled for GI endoscopy for each week using the endoscopy lab schedule. Each week, the patient list for scheduled endoscopies was printed out for the providers who performed procedures in the endoscopy lab. Deidentified data was extracted, including screening endoscopy, therapeutic vs. diagnostic endoscopy, open access vs. inpatient visit, and appointment dates.

Patients scheduled for colonoscopy/upper endoscopy were tracked via an Excel dataset spreadsheet. The medical assistants/registered nurses made live calls seven days before the scheduled procedure and called or sent electronic messages on day three before the procedure. During these calls, staff used the colonoscopy/endoscopy pre-call script to communicate pertinent pre-procedural details to patients. The pre-admission testing team placed reminder calls one day before the procedure. These serial dates allowed patients time to make the appropriate accommodations if necessary. The goal was to contact all scheduled patients weekly to review preparation details and confirm attendance.

## **Project Results and Evaluation**

During the eight weeks of intervention implementation, a total of 483 procedures were scheduled, with a total of two patient no-shows. The no-show rate percentages were determined by dividing the total number of patients by the number of missed appointments per month. A two-tailed *z*-score was used to calculate the statistical significance for the two population proportions. The pooled sample proportion was calculated using  $p_1$  (no-show rate before intervention) = 0.0292,  $p_2$  (no-show rate after the intervention) =0.0041, and  $n_1$  (number of scheduled procedures pre-intervention) =1117 and  $n_2$  (number of scheduled procedures post-intervention) =483. Resulting in a pooled sample proportion of 0.0041. The standard of error (SE) was then calculated, equaling 0.1445. The calculated *z*-score of 3.1785, with a *p*-value of 0.00148, shows significance at the conventional alpha level of 0.05.

Despite the no-show rate remaining above the national average, implementing serial reminders in the endoscopy clinic led to significant positive outcomes. The decrease of 0.41% from 2.78% in the no-show rates indicates the intervention's effectiveness in reducing missed appointments, reflecting improved patient engagement and commitment to scheduled appointments. This reduction aligns with the ASGE benchmark, which identifies an average range of no-shows between 0.63% and 21.02%, with a mean of 6.52% (Tauscher, 2020), demonstrating progress towards best practices in endoscopy clinics and underscoring the clinic's dedication to optimizing patient attendance and enhancing overall efficiency. Additionally, the consistency and statistical significance of the results validate the intervention's effectiveness, suggesting a meaningful impact despite unaccounted external factors like seasonal variations and holiday schedules.

#### Conclusion

The comparison between pre-intervention and post-intervention data reveals a substantial decrease in the no-show rate, with practical implications for improving scheduling efficiency and serial reminders within the endoscopy lab and GI clinic. The decrease in no-show rates with serial reminders has implications for the endoscopy lab and GI clinic. These implications include improving scheduling efficiency by ensuring patients remember and attend their scheduled appointments. This allows the GI clinic to optimize its time and resources fully. Serial reminders increase patient engagement by encouraging patients to be informed and fostering a sense of responsibility and partnership in their healthcare decisions. Reducing no-show rates with serial reminders increases patient engagement. Reduction in no-show rates leads to better clinical outcomes by ensuring patients receive timely and necessary medical interventions such as early adenoma detection via colonoscopy (Crable et al., 2020). Reduced missed appointments also optimize resource use, highlighting the need for ongoing monitoring to assess long-term impact and identify areas for improvement (Williamson et al., 2021).

Some limitations were experienced in this project. The pre-intervention data observation spanned 32 weeks, whereas the intervention period lasted only eight weeks. This discrepancy in evaluation periods limits the scope of the analysis, potentially introducing bias to observed changes that may not be consistent over time. However, the more extended pre-intervention observation period provided a more comprehensive understanding of baseline behavior and variability than the shorter intervention period (Zeldow & Hatfield, 2021). Therefore, it is crucial to reiterate the need for ongoing monitoring and improvement to ensure the long-term success and sustainability of the project.

Errors in data acquisition and missing data elements were also noted, which included inaccurate identification of no-show rates, due to the lack of an automated attendance tracking system. Inaccuracy of patient attendance can result in incomplete patient records, misappropriation of resource allocation, and difficulty identifying patterns contributing to no-shows. Manual data input into spreadsheets can be prone to human error, thus highlighting the need for improved data management processes to enhance accuracy and reliability (Matarneh et al., 2022)..

In addition to collecting data on appointment attendance rates, the DNP student gathered staff feedback on scheduling and patient communication challenges. Through discussions and interviews, frontline staff insights conveyed operational inefficiencies and communication gaps. Additionally, a thorough review of existing practices was conducted to assess appointment scheduling processes, reminder systems, and relevant policies, aiming to identify areas for improvement in reducing no-show rates.

Effective methods for dissemination include communicating the project's benefits, approach, and implementation guidelines to the involved stakeholders within the service line. Additionally, ongoing monitoring and evaluation will be conducted to assess the long-term impact of the intervention and identify areas for further improvement in clinical practice. Plans for sustainability include implementing an automated attendance tracking system to reduce errors and improve data reliability across the nine clinics of the service line. As well as implementing serial reminders as a standard protocol. A task force will be developed to continuously evaluate the program's goals and outcomes as well as communicate strategic planning and development of the project.

#### References

- Alhazmi, S. A., Maashi, A. Q., Shabaan, S. K., Majrashi, A. A., Thakir, M. A., Almetahr, S. M., Qadri, A. M., Hakami, A. A., Abdelwahab, S. I., & Alhazmi, A. H. (2022). The health belief model modifying factors associated with missed clinic appointments among individuals with sickle cell disease in the Jazan Province, Saudi Arabia. *Healthcare*, 10(12), 2376. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare10122376
- Amberger, C., & Schreyer, D. (2024). What do we know about no-show behavior? A systematic, interdisciplinary literature review. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, *38*(1), 57–96. https://doi.org/10.1111/JOES.12534
- Balakrishnan, A. S., Nguyen, H. G., Shinohara, K., Au Yeung, R., Carroll, P. R., & Odisho, A. Y. (2019). A mobile health intervention for prostate biopsy patients reduces appointment cancellations: Cohort study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 21(6), Article e14094. https://doi.org/10.2196/14094
- Berg, B. P., Murr, M., Chermak, D., Woodall, J., Pignone, M., Sandler, R. S., & Denton, B. T. (2013). Estimating the cost of no-shows and evaluating the effects of mitigation strategies. *Medical Decision Making*, *33*(8), 976–985. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989x13478194
- Crable, E. L., Biancarelli, D. L., Aurora, M., Drainoni, M., & Walkey, A. J. (2020). Interventions to increase appointment attendance in safety net health centers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 27(4), 965–975.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jep.13496">https://doi.org/10.1111/jep.13496</a></a>

- Dantas, L. F., Fleck, J. L., Cyrino Oliveira, F. L., & Hamacher, S. (2018). No-shows in appointment scheduling: A systematic literature review. *Health Policy*, *122*(4), 412–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2018.02.002
- Gallegos, S., Roseth, B., Cuesta, A., & Sánchez, M. (2023). Increasing the take-up of public health services: An at-scale experiment on digital government. *Journal of Public Economics*, 227(1), 104975–104975. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2023.104975
- Gashu, K. D., Gelaye, K. A., Lester, R., & Tilahun, B. (2021). Effect of a phone reminder system on patient-centered tuberculosis treatment adherence among adults in Northwest Ethiopia: a randomised controlled trial. *BMJ Health & Care Informatics*, 28(1), Article e100268. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjhci-2020-100268
- Hadaib, I., Anglade, P., & Ibrahim, H. (2022). Factors contributing to non-attendance of GI endoscopic procedures in a tertiary care center in the Middle East. *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention*, 23(1), 33–37. https://doi.org/10.31557/apjcp.2022.23.1.33
- Iribarren, S. J., Akande, T. O., Kamp, K. J., Barry, D., Kader, Y. G., & Suelzer, E. (2021).

  Effectiveness of mobile apps to promote health and manage disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *JMIR MHealth and UHealth*, 9(1),

  Article e21563. https://doi.org/10.2196/21563
- Lagman, R. L., Samala, R. V., LeGrand, S., Parala-Metz, A., Patel, C., Neale, K., Carrino, C., Rybicki, L., Gamier, P., Mauk, M., & Nowak, M. (2020). "If you call them, they will come": A telephone call reminder to decrease the no-show rate in an outpatient palliative medicine clinic. *American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Medicine*, 38(5), 448–451. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909120952322

- Lam, T. T., Hui, A. J., Sia, F., Wong, M. Y., Lee, C. P., Chung, K. W., Lau, J. W., Wu, P. I., & Sung, J. Y. (2020). Short message service reminders reduce outpatient colonoscopy nonattendance rate: A randomized controlled study. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *36*(4), 1044–1050. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.15218">https://doi.org/10.1111/jgh.15218</a>
- Low, P. T., Ng, C. G., Kadir, M. S., & Tang, S. L. (2021). Reminder through mobile messaging application improves outpatient attendance and medication adherence among patients with depression: An open-label randomised controlled trial. *Malaysian Medical Association*, 76(5), 617. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34508365/
- Marbouh, D., Khaleel, I., Al Shanqiti, K., Al Tamimi, M., Simsekler, M., Ellahham, S., Alibazoglu, D., & Alibazoglu, H. (2020). Evaluating the impact of patient no-shows on service quality. *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy*, *13* 509–517. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2147/rmhp.s232114">https://doi.org/10.2147/rmhp.s232114</a>
- Matarneh, S., Elghaish, F., Rahimian, F. P., Dawood, N., & Edwards, D. (2022). Automated and interconnected facility management system: An open IFC cloud-based BIM solution.

  \*Automation in Construction, 143(1), Article 104569.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2022.104569
- McQueenie, R., Ellis, D. A., McConnachie, A., Wilson, P., & Williamson, A. E. (2019).

  Morbidity, mortality and missed appointments in healthcare: A national retrospective data linkage study. *BMC Medicine*, *17*, 1-9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-018-1234-0">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-018-1234-0</a>
- Ooi, J., Ong, R., & Oh, H. (2024). Exploring factors influencing outpatient radiology attendance based on Health Belief Model (HBM): A qualitative study. *Radiography*, *30*(2), 504–511. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2024.01.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radi.2024.01.003</a>

- Opon, S., Tenambergen, W., & Njoroge, K. (2020). The effect of patient reminders in reducing missed appointment in medical settings: A systematic review. *Pan African Medical Journal PAMJ One Health*, 2, 1-10. <a href="https://doi.org/10.11604/pamj-oh.2020.2.9.21839">https://doi.org/10.11604/pamj-oh.2020.2.9.21839</a>
- Shah, S. J., Cronin, P., Hong, C. S., Hwang, A. S., Ashburner, J. M., Bearnot, B. I., Richardson, C. A., Fosburgh, B. W., & Kimball, A. B. (2016). Targeted reminder phone calls to patients at high risk of no-show for primary care appointment: A randomized trial.

  Journal of General Internal Medicine, 31(12), 1460–1466.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-016-3813-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-016-3813-0</a>
- Shuja, A., Harris, C., Aldridge, P., Malespin, M., & De Melo, S. W. (2019). Predictors of no-show rate in the GI endoscopy suite at a safety net academic medical center. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology*, 53(1), 29–33.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1097/MCG.0000000000000928">https://doi.org/10.1097/MCG.00000000000000928</a>
- Smith, M., Vaughan Sarrazin, M., Wang, X., Nordby, P., Yu, M., DeLonay, A. J., & Jaffery, J. (2022). Risk from delayed or missed care and COVID-19 outcomes for older patients with chronic conditions during the pandemic. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 70(5), 1314–1324. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.17722">https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.17722</a>
- Soos, M., Cobb, A., Patel, P., Mandiga, H., Ghose, A., & Clark, S. (2020). Evaluation of clinical no-show rates in the setting of an outpatient internal medicine residency clinic.
   Osteopathic Family Physician, 12(5), 12–17. <a href="https://doi.org/10.33181/12051">https://doi.org/10.33181/12051</a>
- https://www.asge.org/home/resources/publications/practical-solutions/practical-solutions-october-reduce-impact-no-shows-cancellations

Tauscher, B. (2020). Reduce the impact of no-shows and cancellations. ASGE.

- Valero-Bover, D., González, P., Carot-Sans, G., Cano, I., Saura, P., Otermin, P., Garcia, C., Gálvez, M., Lupiáñez-Villanueva, F., & Piera-Jiménez, J. (2022). Reducing non-attendance in outpatient appointments: Predictive model development, validation, and clinical assessment. *BMC Health Services Research*, 22, 2–9.
  https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-022-07865-y
- Wellstar Health Systems. (2023). Common Consumer Shoppable Services for HMO Pricing for More Common Health Plans and Windy Hill Hospitals Code Code Description Aetna HMO Cigna HMO United Health Care Humana Anthem Blue Cross HMO.

  <a href="https://www.wellstar.org/-/media/project/wellstar/org/documents/common-consumer-shoppable-services/wgmc-consumer.pdf">https://www.wellstar.org/-/media/project/wellstar/org/documents/common-consumer-shoppable-services/wgmc-consumer.pdf</a>
- Williamson, A. E., McQueenie, R., Ellis, D. A., McConnachie, A., & Wilson, P. (2021). 
  "Missingness" in health care: Associations between hospital utilization and missed appointments in general practice. A retrospective cohort study. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(6), Article e0253163. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253163">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253163</a>
- Woodside, T. L. (2023). Development and evaluation of a nurse leader-driven telephone appointment reminder [Doctoral Dissertation].

  <a href="https://www.proquest.com/openview/fb83691603c8545979409c9f82f47ba1/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y">https://www.proquest.com/openview/fb83691603c8545979409c9f82f47ba1/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y</a>
- Yılmaz, H., & Kocyigit, B. (2022). Factors associated with non-attendance at appointments in the gastroenterology endoscopy unit: A retrospective cohort study. *PeerJ-Life and Environment*, 10(1), Article 13518. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.13518">https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.13518</a>

- Zampetakis, L. A., & Melas, C. (2021). The health belief model predicts vaccination intentions against COVID-19: A survey experiment approach. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 13(2), 469–484. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12262">https://doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12262</a>
- Zeldow, B., & Hatfield, L. A. (2021). Confounding and regression adjustment in difference-in-differences studies. *Health Services Research*, *56*(5), 932–941. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13666
- Zhang, B., & Konstantopoulos, S. (2024). Statistical Power Analysis for Univariate Meta-Analysis: A Three-Level Model. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, *1*(1), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2023.2290544

## Appendix A

## **JSU IRB Approval Letter**



Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects in Research

203 Angle Hall 700 Pelham Road North Jacksonville, AL 36265-1602

November 7, 2023

Mwaba Chisela Jacksonville State University Jacksonville, AL 36265

Dear Mwaba:

Your protocol for the project titled "Reducing No-Show Rates in an Outpatient GI Endoscopy Lab" protocol number 11072023-05, has been approved by the JSU Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects in Research (IRB).

If your research deviates from that listed in the protocol, please notify me immediately. One year from the date of this approval letter, please send me a progress report of your research project.

Best wishes for a successful research project.

Sincerely,

Sarah Donley

Human Protections Administrator, Institutional Review Board

## Appendix B

# **CITI Training**



Completion Date 29-Aug-2023 Expiration Date 29-Aug-2026 Record ID 57780559

#### mwaba chisela

Has completed the following CITI Program course:

Not valid for renewal of certification through CME.

Social and Behavioral Responsible Conduct of Research (Curriculum Group)

Social and Behavioral Responsible Conduct of Research

(Course Learner Group)

1 - RCR (Stage)

Under requirements set by:

Jacksonville State University



101 NE 3rd Avenue, Suite 320 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 US www.citiprogram.org

Verify at www.citiprogram.org/verify/?w4cf868e7-3fbd-4f66-b260-99d5852a379f-57780559